John M. Pandolfi and Jeremy B. C. Jackson. 2001. Community structure of Pleistocene coral reefs of Curação, Netherlands Antilles. *Ecological Monographs* 71: 49-71.

Appendix A

Additional information for the study of Pleistocene coral communites from Cuação, Netherlands Antilles.

Abstract

This Appendix provides additional information for the study of Pleistocene coral communities from Curaçao. It is composed of a Methods section explaining one additional analysis: cluster analysis. It goes into some detail about the nature of the paleontological database from which the results of the published study are derived ("How good are the data?"). The Appendix goes into further detail about the basis for the coral taxonomy used in the study, including a list of species, figured examples of the different fossil forms of the *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex, and a table of species diversity for each sample. Further data are also given on species distribution patterns: two tables showing a list of species that occurred in only 1 or 2 (of 3) of the Pleistocene reef environments or 1 (of 2) of the sites per environment. Lastly a section on results from the cluster analyses, corroborates, in all cases, the results of the global non-metric multidimensional scaling ordinations presented in the original paper.

Keywords: community ecology, community structure, Quaternary, Pleistocene, paleoecology, coral, coral reefs, Caribbean

Research location: Curação, Dutch West Indies, 12° N and 68° W

Table of Contents:

- I) Methods
- II) How good are the data?
- III) Coral species and taxonomy
- IV) Species distribution patterns
- V) Cluster analysis
- VI) Literature Cited
- VII) <u>Appendix</u>: List of reef coral (Scleractinia) species from the 125 ka Hato Unit, Lower Terrace, Curação

Methods

The main methods for sample design and data analysis used in the original paper and in this Supplement are illustrated in <u>Figure A1</u>. One method used in the Supplement, and not explained in the original paper is the cluster analysis.

<u>Cluster analysis</u>. Cluster analysis provides a graphical display that attempts to group samples into clusters based on their similarity. Complete link clustering was performed on the ranked BC dissimilarity matrices, ensuring that the clustering obtained had exactly the same structure as that based on the original similarities. Since this is also the philosophy behind the ordination technique, results from ordination and clustering can be compared easily (Clarke and Warwick 1994).

How good are the data?

Can Quaternary reef coral assemblages be reliably studied on Caribbean raised reef terraces? How good is the Quaternary record of Caribbean reefs? A major concern in any paleoecological study is the quality of the data compared to that obtainable in studies of Recent communities. The data from this study are composed of fifty 40-m long transects, or about 2000 m of surveyed shallow reef habitats. Sampling curves of the cumulative number of Pleistocene species level off after a few transects within each environment (Fig. A2). Moreover, four lines of evidence suggest that our Pleistocene communities preserve significant amounts of ecological information from the original reefs.

- 1) We found the same diversity of reef coral species as that found in similar environments in the modern (<u>Table A1</u>). Thus, we have been able to identify most, if not all, of the coral species which lived in the three reef environments of the Pleistocene of Curaçao, and we are confident that no important components of the original reef coral communities have been lost during fossilization.
- 2) Species identifications could be made on closely related species which show subtle morphological differences. We were able to easily identify species from a number of different coral families. In addition, species within both the *Montastraea "annularis"* and *Montastraea "cavernosa"* species complexes could be differentiated, and an additional form within each complex was identified in the Pleistocene of Curação (see Coral species and taxonomy). Regardless of whether or not these new forms will survive rigorous morphometric analyses of corallite microstructure (Pandolfi *unpub. data*), or genetic analyses, our ability to identify them easily in the field as separate morphospecies speaks strongly for the quality of the Pleistocene data. Thus, the Pleistocene reef coral communities of Curação contain important ecological information at the species level.
- 3) The estimated length of time represented by our data is between 200 and 2350 years. This "time-averaging" (Johnson 1960) is advantageous for two reasons. First, corals commonly live many centuries or longer and it is appropriate to study community structure over at least a few generations (Cameron and Endean 1985). Secondly, the study of time-averaged assemblages, if not sampled over too long a time, can avoid the short-term effects of environmental noise, such as hurricanes and earthquakes. Although such events may be devastating in a short term, they may only result in minor fluctuations in community structure in the long term (Jackson 1991).

Two other groups of studies increase our overall confidence in our results. First, Mesolella (1967) documented patterns in the relative abundance of coral species, from the Pleistocene of Barbados that were similar to those reported for living reefs around Jamaica (Goreau 1959; Goreau and Wells 1967). Subsequent re-analysis of Mesolella's data suggests that these species distribution patterns persisted for over half a million years (Jackson 1992). The Pleistocene communities from Curação also show similar

abundance patterns to those existing on Caribbean reefs prior to the 1980's, when widespread degradation led to the collapse of many Caribbean reefs.

Second, taphonomic studies of the transition from a life to a death assemblage showed that modern life and death assemblages of Caribbean reef corals exhibit: 1) similar differentiation of reef coral communities with habitat; and 2) similar taxonomic diversity of reef coral species (Greenstein and Pandolfi 1997; Greenstein *et al.* 1998a; Pandolfi and Greenstein 1997). Moreover, the few comparative studies of life, death, and fossil assemblages show excellent agreement in taxonomic composition and diversity (Greenstein *et al.* 1998a,b). These studies, and the good agreement in diversity between modern and fossil reefs that we found in Curaçao (Table A1), indicate that ecological information appears to be well conserved in Quaternary fossil reef assemblages. This is in major contrast to Pleistocene terrestrial forest communities based on pollen. The relationship between abundance of pollen and abundance of original trees is uncertain (Bush 1995), and pollen may only represent taxa that made up as little as 5% of the original forest community (Terasmae 1973).

Coral species and taxonomy

The 39 coral species identified in this study are listed in the Appendix. Seven transects were laid at each of two sites in each of the three ancient reef environments on the island (Table A2). We found 15 species in the WRC, 19 species in the WBR, and 21 species in the LRC; and for data collected along both the transects and the 1 hour search we found 30, 23, and 30 species, respectively (Table A2). In most instances preservation of corals along the chosen transects was excellent and identifications were made in the field. Where preservation was not satisfactory to identify corals to species in the field, they were collected and identified in the laboratory using microscopic analysis of corallite wall structure. In addition, a reference collection of each identified species was assembled which is now housed at the National Museum of Natural History of the Smithsonian Institution, Washington DC. Specimens could be identified to species in almost all cases, and all could be identified to genus. Inclusion of the few unidentified specimens made no difference to the results so they were excluded from the analyses presented.

The taxonomy of Neogene to Recent Caribbean corals has advanced significantly in the past 15 years, mainly through the efforts of Budd and colleagues (Budd *et al.* 1994) who used new morphometric data on corallite and colony characters to revise the fauna. All of these characters can be recognized in fossils, and the limited molecular data available support the separation of morphospecies (Lopez and Knowlton 1997; Knowlton *et al.* 1997). We have therefore followed their framework with three exceptions: *Colpophyllia*, the *Montastraea* "annularis" species complex (Knowlton *et al.* 1992) and the *Montastraea* "cavernosa" species complex.

Colpophyllia: We distinguished *C. amaranthus* by its almost cerioid (closely packed corallites with single mouths and shared walls) valley structure as opposed to the more meandroid (meandering valleys with multiple mouths) valleys of *C. natans* and *C. breviserialis*, rather than using colony size differences emphasized by Budd *et al.* (1994).

Montastraea "annularis" complex. Three different species have been recognized that show morphologic (Budd 1993), genetic (Knowlton *et al.* 1992), behavioral (Knowlton *et al.* 1997) and ecological (Van Veghel 1994) differentiation among growth forms: a massive form known as *Montastraea faveolata* with exert septa extending above the coenosteum, a columnar form known as *Montastraea annularis* (*sensu*

stricto) with prominent first order septa, and a massive to plate form with small knobs (the 'bumpy' species) known as *Montastraea franksii* with larger less regular corallites separated by larger distances than the other two species. We found even further morphologic differentiation in the Pleistocene assemblages of the Hato Unit of the Lower Terrace on Curação Fig. A3). We recognized the massive, columnar and platy forms already assigned to the modern *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex, and an organ-pipe form which is now extinct (Pandolfi 1999; Pandolfi *et al.* in press). Thus, the analyses presented here include one more species from the *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex than that listed by Budd *et al.* (1994).

Montastraea "cavernosa" complex. We distinguished four presumptive sibling species in this group (one more than Budd *et al.* 1994), three of which match well the species and species characteristics they described.

In summary, our taxonomy for Pleistocene corals of Curaçao is based on the same criteria as those used for living and fossil species throughout the Caribbean, and includes the recent discovery of cryptic species complexes which can be readily distinguished in fossils. Thus, our level of taxonomic discrimination of Pleistocene corals is greater than for virtually all surveys of living reef coral communities in the Caribbean. Moreover, only two of the species we found in the Pleistocene of Curaçao are extinct today: *Pocillopora* cf. *palmata* and the organ-pipe growth form of the *Montastraea* "annularis" species complex (Geister 1977; Pandolfi 1999; Pandolfi *et al.* in press). Thus, this study examines an essentially modern fauna.

Species distribution patterns

<u>Distribution of rare taxa</u>. There were a number of species that occurred in only one of the reef environments, and a few that were absent from only one of the reef environments (<u>Table A3</u>). In the Pleistocene of Curaçao, 15 of 39 species occurred in only one of the three reef environments (<u>Table A3</u>), yet over 90% of the coral abundances came from just 4 or less of the coral species within each of the three environments. In the windward reef crest (WRC), there were a number of species encountered in the southern transects that were not encountered in the northern transects (<u>Table A4</u>). In the windward back reef (WBR), a number of species encountered in the northern transects were not encountered in the central transects (<u>Table A4</u>).

Cluster Analysis

Cluster analysis of the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix provides an alternative graphical representation of the environmental differences in taxonomic composition among the reef coral assemblages and showed good agreement with both the GNMDS ordination and the ANOSIM results (see original paper).

In the combined cluster analysis (quantitative data set) of all transects from all environments, the dendrogram shows two major clusters (Fig. A4). The first major cluster has two components, one exclusively composed of WRC assemblages and the other predominantly composed of LRC assemblages. Some assemblages from the WRC are also found within the LRC cluster. The second major cluster is composed of almost exclusively WBR assemblages. Some assemblages from the LRC are also found within the WBR cluster (Fig. A4). It is clear that the LRC assemblages overlap with both the WRC and the WBR, but the latter two do not overlap.

Individual cluster analyses of transects from all three environments show very similar patterns in

taxonomic composition with respect to geographic position as did the GNMDS and the ANOSIM tests (Fig. A5).

Literature cited

- Bak, R.P.M. 1975. Ecological aspects of the distribution of reef corals in the Netherlands Antilles. Bijdr.Dierk. **45**:181-190.
- Bak, R.P.M. 1977. Coral reefs and their zonation in Netherlands Antilles. AAPG Studies in Geology **4**:3-16.
- Budd, A.F. 1993. Variation within and among morphospecies of *Montastraea*. Courier Forschungs-institut Senckenberg **164**: 241-254.
- Budd, A. F., T. A. Stemann, and K. G. Johnson. 1994. Stratigraphic distributions of genera and species of Neogene to Recent Caribbean Reef Corals. Journal of Paleontology **68**:951-977.
- Bush, M.B. 1995. Neotropical plant reproductive strategies and fossil pollen representation. American Naturalist **145**:594-609.
- Cameron, A.M. and R. Endean. 1985. Do long-lived species structure coral reef ecosystems? Proceedings of the 5th International Coral Reef Symposium 6:211-215.
- Clarke, K. R., and R. M. Warwick. 1994. Change in marine communities: an approach to statistical analysis and interpretation. National Environment Research Council. UK. 144 pp.
- Dana, J. D. 1848. Zoophytes. United States Exploring Expedition 1838-1842, Philadelphia, 7:121-708, 721-740.
- Duchassaing, P., and J. Michelotti. 1860. Mémoire sur les coralliaires des Antilles. Memorie della Reale Accademia delle Scienze di Torino. Serie Seconda **19**:56-87.
- Ehrenberg, G. G. 1834. Beiträge zur physiologischen Kenntniss der Corallenthiere im allgemeinen und besonders des Rothen Meeres. Kaiserliche Akademie der Wissenschaften Berlin, Abhandlungen **1832**:250-380.
- Ellis, J., and D. Solander. 1786. The natural history of many curious and uncommon zoophytes. London, 208 p.
- Esper, J. C. 1797. Fortsetzungen der Pflanzenthiere. Nürnberg 1:169-230.
- Fenner, D.P. 1988. Some leeward reefs and corals of Cozumel, Mexico. Bulletin of Marine Science **42**:133-144.
- Geister, J. 1977. Occurrence of Pocillopora in late Pleistocene Caribbean coral reefs. Mémoires du Bureau de Recherches Géologiques et Minières **89**:378-388.
- Goreau, T. F. 1959. The ecology of Jamaican coral reefs. I. Species composition and zonation. Ecology **40**:67-90.
- Goreau, T.F., and J.W. Wells. 1967. The shallow-water Scleractinia of Jamaica: revised list of species and their vertical distribution range. Bulletin of Marine Science **17**:442-453.

- Greenstein, B.J., and J.M. Pandolfi. 1997. Preservation of community structure in modern reef coral life and death assemblages of the Florida Keys: Implications for the Quaternary fossil record of coral reefs: Bulletin of Marine Science **61**: 431-452.
- Greenstein, B.J., J.M. Pandolfi, and A. Curran. 1998a. The completeness of the Pleistocene fossil record: implications for stratigraphic adequacy: in Donovan, S.K. and C.R.C. Paul (eds.), The Adequacy of the Fossil Record, John Wiley and Sons, London, pp. 75-109.
- Greenstein, B.J., A. Curran, and J.M. Pandolfi. 1998b. Shifting ecological baselines and the demise of *Acropora cervicornis* in the western North Atlantic and Caribbean Province: A Pleistocene perspective. Coral Reefs 17: 249-261.
- Gregory, J. W. 1900. The corals. Jurassic fauna of Cutch. Palaeontologica Indica, Series 9, 2:1-195.
- Guzmán, H.M., J.B.C. Jackson, and E. Weil. 1991. Short-term ecological consequences of a major oil spill on Panamanian subtidal reef corals. Coral Reefs **10**:1-12.
- Jackson, J.B.C. 1991. Adaptation and diversity of reef corals. Bioscience 41:475-482.
- Jackson, J.B.C. 1992. Pleistocene perspectives on coral reef community structure. American Zoologist **32**:719-731.
- Johnson, R.G. 1960. Models and methods for analysis of the mode of formation of fossil assemblages. Geological Society of America Bulletin **71**:1075-1086.
- Knowlton, N., J.L. Mate, H.M. Guzman, R. Rowan, and J. Jara. 1997. Direct evidence for reproductive isolation among the three species on the *Montastraea annularis* complex in Central America (Panama and Honduras). Marine Biology 127: 705-711.
- Knowlton, N., E. Weil, L.A. Weight, and H.M. Guzmán. 1992. Sibling species in <u>Montastraea annularis</u>, coral bleaching and the coral climate record. Science **255**:330-333.
- Lamarck, J. B. P. 1816. Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertèbres. Paris.vol. 2, 568 pp.
- Lesueur, C. A. 1821. Déscription de plusieurs animaux appartenant aux polypiers lamellifères de M. le Chev. de Lamarck. Mémoires du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle, **6**:271-298.
- Linnaeus, C. 1758. Systema Naturae per regnia tria naturae, secundum Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species. Tomus I. Regnum Animale. Holmiae, Editio Decima, Reformata, 824 pp.
- Linnaeus, C. 1767. Madrepora. Systema Naturae. Holmiae, Editio Duodecima, Reformata, pt. 2, t. 1:1272-1282.
- Lopez J.V., and N. Knowlton 1997. Discrimination of species in the *Montastraea annularis* complex using multiple genetic loci. Proceedings of the 8th International Coral Reef Symposium **II**:1613-1618.
- Lyman, T. 1859. On a new species of coral (*Astraea decactis*). Proceedings of the Boston Society of Natural History **6**:260-263.
- Mesolella, K.J. 1967. Zonation of uplifted Pleistocene coral reefs on Barbados, West Indies. Science **156**:638-640.

Milne-Edwards, H., and J. Haime. 1849. Mémoire sur les polypiers appartenant à la famille des Oculinides, au groupe intermédiaire des Pseudastréides et à la famille des Fongides (extrait). Academie de la Science, Paris, C.R., **29**:67-73.

Müller, P. L. S. 1775. Von den Corallen. In Ritters C. von Linné vollständiges Natursystem nach der zwölften lateinsichen Ausgabe und nach Anleitung des holländischen Erklärung ausgefertiget von P. L. S. Müller. Nürnberg, vol. **6**, 960 pp.

Pallas, P. S. 1766. Elenchus Zoophytorum. Hagae-Comitum. 451 pp.

Palmer, R. H. 1928. Fossil and Recent corals and coral reefs of western Mexico. American Philosophical Society Proceedings **68**:21-31.

Pandolfi, J.M. 1999. Response of Pleistocene coral reefs to environmental change over long temporal scales: American Zoologist **39**:113-130.

Pandolfi, J.M., and B.J. Greenstein. 1997. Preservation of community structure in death assemblages of deep water Caribbean reef corals. Limnology and Oceanography **42**: 1505-1516.

Pandolfi, J.M., J.B.C. Jackson and J. Geister. in press b. Geologically sudden extinction of two widespread Late Pleistocene Caribbean reef corals. *in* Jackson J.B.C., S. Lidgard, and F.K. McKinney (eds.), Process from Pattern in the Fossil Record, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Terasmae, J. 1973. Notes on late Wisconsin and early Holocene history of vegetation in Canada. Arctic and Alpine Research 5:210-222.

Van Veghel, M.L.J. 1994. Polymorphism in the Caribbean reef building coral *Montastrea annularis*. unpub PhD dissertation, 128 pp.

Verrill, A. E.1902. Variations and nomenclature of Bermudian, West Indian, and Brazilian reef corals, with notes on various Indo-Pacific corals. Connecticut Academy of Arts and Science, Transactions, **11**:63-169.

Appendix. List of reef coral (Scleractinia) species from the 125 ka Hato Unit, Lower Terrace, Curação.

Acropora cervicornis (Lamarck 1816)

Acropora palmata (Lamarck 1816)

Agaricia agaricites (Linneaus 1758)

Agaricia crassa (Verrill 1902)

Agaricia pusilla (Verrill 1902)

Colpophyllia amaranthus (Müller 1775)

Colpophyllia breviserialis (Milne Edwards and Haine 1849)

Colpophyllia natans (Müller 1775)

Siderastrea radians (Pallas 1766)

Siderastrea siderea (Ellis and Solander 1786)

Solenastrea bourini (Milne Edwards and Haine 1849)

Stephanocoenia intersepta (Lamarck 1816)

[Back to M071-002]

John M. Pandolfi and Jeremy B. C. Jackson. 2001. Community structure of Pleistocene coral reefs of Curação, Netherlands Antilles. *Ecological Monographs* 71: 49-71.

Appendix A

Additional information for the study of Pleistocene coral communites from Cuação, Netherlands Antilles.

Abstract

This Appendix provides additional information for the study of Pleistocene coral communities from Curaçao. It is composed of a Methods section explaining one additional analysis: cluster analysis. It goes into some detail about the nature of the paleontological database from which the results of the published study are derived ("How good are the data?"). The Appendix goes into further detail about the basis for the coral taxonomy used in the study, including a list of species, figured examples of the different fossil forms of the *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex, and a table of species diversity for each sample. Further data are also given on species distribution patterns: two tables showing a list of species that occurred in only 1 or 2 (of 3) of the Pleistocene reef environments or 1 (of 2) of the sites per environment. Lastly a section on results from the cluster analyses, corroborates, in all cases, the results of the global non-metric multidimensional scaling ordinations presented in the original paper.

Keywords: community ecology, community structure, Quaternary, Pleistocene, paleoecology, coral, coral reefs, Caribbean

Research location: Curação, Dutch West Indies, 12° N and 68° W

Table of Contents:

- I) Methods
- II) How good are the data?
- III) Coral species and taxonomy
- IV) Species distribution patterns
- V) Cluster analysis
- VI) Literature Cited
- VII) <u>Appendix</u>: List of reef coral (Scleractinia) species from the 125 ka Hato Unit, Lower Terrace, Curação

Methods

The main methods for sample design and data analysis used in the original paper and in this Supplement are illustrated in <u>Figure A1</u>. One method used in the Supplement, and not explained in the original paper is the cluster analysis.

<u>Cluster analysis</u>. Cluster analysis provides a graphical display that attempts to group samples into clusters based on their similarity. Complete link clustering was performed on the ranked BC dissimilarity matrices, ensuring that the clustering obtained had exactly the same structure as that based on the original similarities. Since this is also the philosophy behind the ordination technique, results from ordination and clustering can be compared easily (Clarke and Warwick 1994).

How good are the data?

Can Quaternary reef coral assemblages be reliably studied on Caribbean raised reef terraces? How good is the Quaternary record of Caribbean reefs? A major concern in any paleoecological study is the quality of the data compared to that obtainable in studies of Recent communities. The data from this study are composed of fifty 40-m long transects, or about 2000 m of surveyed shallow reef habitats. Sampling curves of the cumulative number of Pleistocene species level off after a few transects within each environment (Fig. A2). Moreover, four lines of evidence suggest that our Pleistocene communities preserve significant amounts of ecological information from the original reefs.

- 1) We found the same diversity of reef coral species as that found in similar environments in the modern (<u>Table A1</u>). Thus, we have been able to identify most, if not all, of the coral species which lived in the three reef environments of the Pleistocene of Curaçao, and we are confident that no important components of the original reef coral communities have been lost during fossilization.
- 2) Species identifications could be made on closely related species which show subtle morphological differences. We were able to easily identify species from a number of different coral families. In addition, species within both the *Montastraea "annularis"* and *Montastraea "cavernosa"* species complexes could be differentiated, and an additional form within each complex was identified in the Pleistocene of Curação (see Coral species and taxonomy). Regardless of whether or not these new forms will survive rigorous morphometric analyses of corallite microstructure (Pandolfi *unpub. data*), or genetic analyses, our ability to identify them easily in the field as separate morphospecies speaks strongly for the quality of the Pleistocene data. Thus, the Pleistocene reef coral communities of Curação contain important ecological information at the species level.
- 3) The estimated length of time represented by our data is between 200 and 2350 years. This "time-averaging" (Johnson 1960) is advantageous for two reasons. First, corals commonly live many centuries or longer and it is appropriate to study community structure over at least a few generations (Cameron and Endean 1985). Secondly, the study of time-averaged assemblages, if not sampled over too long a time, can avoid the short-term effects of environmental noise, such as hurricanes and earthquakes. Although such events may be devastating in a short term, they may only result in minor fluctuations in community structure in the long term (Jackson 1991).

Two other groups of studies increase our overall confidence in our results. First, Mesolella (1967) documented patterns in the relative abundance of coral species, from the Pleistocene of Barbados that were similar to those reported for living reefs around Jamaica (Goreau 1959; Goreau and Wells 1967). Subsequent re-analysis of Mesolella's data suggests that these species distribution patterns persisted for over half a million years (Jackson 1992). The Pleistocene communities from Curação also show similar

abundance patterns to those existing on Caribbean reefs prior to the 1980's, when widespread degradation led to the collapse of many Caribbean reefs.

Second, taphonomic studies of the transition from a life to a death assemblage showed that modern life and death assemblages of Caribbean reef corals exhibit: 1) similar differentiation of reef coral communities with habitat; and 2) similar taxonomic diversity of reef coral species (Greenstein and Pandolfi 1997; Greenstein *et al.* 1998a; Pandolfi and Greenstein 1997). Moreover, the few comparative studies of life, death, and fossil assemblages show excellent agreement in taxonomic composition and diversity (Greenstein *et al.* 1998a,b). These studies, and the good agreement in diversity between modern and fossil reefs that we found in Curaçao (Table A1), indicate that ecological information appears to be well conserved in Quaternary fossil reef assemblages. This is in major contrast to Pleistocene terrestrial forest communities based on pollen. The relationship between abundance of pollen and abundance of original trees is uncertain (Bush 1995), and pollen may only represent taxa that made up as little as 5% of the original forest community (Terasmae 1973).

Coral species and taxonomy

The 39 coral species identified in this study are listed in the Appendix. Seven transects were laid at each of two sites in each of the three ancient reef environments on the island (Table A2). We found 15 species in the WRC, 19 species in the WBR, and 21 species in the LRC; and for data collected along both the transects and the 1 hour search we found 30, 23, and 30 species, respectively (Table A2). In most instances preservation of corals along the chosen transects was excellent and identifications were made in the field. Where preservation was not satisfactory to identify corals to species in the field, they were collected and identified in the laboratory using microscopic analysis of corallite wall structure. In addition, a reference collection of each identified species was assembled which is now housed at the National Museum of Natural History of the Smithsonian Institution, Washington DC. Specimens could be identified to species in almost all cases, and all could be identified to genus. Inclusion of the few unidentified specimens made no difference to the results so they were excluded from the analyses presented.

The taxonomy of Neogene to Recent Caribbean corals has advanced significantly in the past 15 years, mainly through the efforts of Budd and colleagues (Budd *et al.* 1994) who used new morphometric data on corallite and colony characters to revise the fauna. All of these characters can be recognized in fossils, and the limited molecular data available support the separation of morphospecies (Lopez and Knowlton 1997; Knowlton *et al.* 1997). We have therefore followed their framework with three exceptions: *Colpophyllia*, the *Montastraea* "annularis" species complex (Knowlton *et al.* 1992) and the *Montastraea* "cavernosa" species complex.

Colpophyllia: We distinguished *C. amaranthus* by its almost cerioid (closely packed corallites with single mouths and shared walls) valley structure as opposed to the more meandroid (meandering valleys with multiple mouths) valleys of *C. natans* and *C. breviserialis*, rather than using colony size differences emphasized by Budd *et al.* (1994).

Montastraea "annularis" complex. Three different species have been recognized that show morphologic (Budd 1993), genetic (Knowlton *et al.* 1992), behavioral (Knowlton *et al.* 1997) and ecological (Van Veghel 1994) differentiation among growth forms: a massive form known as *Montastraea faveolata* with exert septa extending above the coenosteum, a columnar form known as *Montastraea annularis* (*sensu*

stricto) with prominent first order septa, and a massive to plate form with small knobs (the 'bumpy' species) known as *Montastraea franksii* with larger less regular corallites separated by larger distances than the other two species. We found even further morphologic differentiation in the Pleistocene assemblages of the Hato Unit of the Lower Terrace on Curação Fig. A3). We recognized the massive, columnar and platy forms already assigned to the modern *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex, and an organ-pipe form which is now extinct (Pandolfi 1999; Pandolfi *et al.* in press). Thus, the analyses presented here include one more species from the *Montastraea "annularis"* species complex than that listed by Budd *et al.* (1994).

Montastraea "cavernosa" complex. We distinguished four presumptive sibling species in this group (one more than Budd *et al.* 1994), three of which match well the species and species characteristics they described.

In summary, our taxonomy for Pleistocene corals of Curaçao is based on the same criteria as those used for living and fossil species throughout the Caribbean, and includes the recent discovery of cryptic species complexes which can be readily distinguished in fossils. Thus, our level of taxonomic discrimination of Pleistocene corals is greater than for virtually all surveys of living reef coral communities in the Caribbean. Moreover, only two of the species we found in the Pleistocene of Curaçao are extinct today: *Pocillopora* cf. *palmata* and the organ-pipe growth form of the *Montastraea* "annularis" species complex (Geister 1977; Pandolfi 1999; Pandolfi *et al.* in press). Thus, this study examines an essentially modern fauna.

Species distribution patterns

<u>Distribution of rare taxa</u>. There were a number of species that occurred in only one of the reef environments, and a few that were absent from only one of the reef environments (<u>Table A3</u>). In the Pleistocene of Curaçao, 15 of 39 species occurred in only one of the three reef environments (<u>Table A3</u>), yet over 90% of the coral abundances came from just 4 or less of the coral species within each of the three environments. In the windward reef crest (WRC), there were a number of species encountered in the southern transects that were not encountered in the northern transects (<u>Table A4</u>). In the windward back reef (WBR), a number of species encountered in the northern transects were not encountered in the central transects (<u>Table A4</u>).

Cluster Analysis

Cluster analysis of the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix provides an alternative graphical representation of the environmental differences in taxonomic composition among the reef coral assemblages and showed good agreement with both the GNMDS ordination and the ANOSIM results (see original paper).

In the combined cluster analysis (quantitative data set) of all transects from all environments, the dendrogram shows two major clusters (Fig. A4). The first major cluster has two components, one exclusively composed of WRC assemblages and the other predominantly composed of LRC assemblages. Some assemblages from the WRC are also found within the LRC cluster. The second major cluster is composed of almost exclusively WBR assemblages. Some assemblages from the LRC are also found within the WBR cluster (Fig. A4). It is clear that the LRC assemblages overlap with both the WRC and the WBR, but the latter two do not overlap.

Individual cluster analyses of transects from all three environments show very similar patterns in

taxonomic composition with respect to geographic position as did the GNMDS and the ANOSIM tests (Fig. A5).

Literature cited

- Bak, R.P.M. 1975. Ecological aspects of the distribution of reef corals in the Netherlands Antilles. Bijdr.Dierk. **45**:181-190.
- Bak, R.P.M. 1977. Coral reefs and their zonation in Netherlands Antilles. AAPG Studies in Geology **4**:3-16.
- Budd, A.F. 1993. Variation within and among morphospecies of *Montastraea*. Courier Forschungs-institut Senckenberg **164**: 241-254.
- Budd, A. F., T. A. Stemann, and K. G. Johnson. 1994. Stratigraphic distributions of genera and species of Neogene to Recent Caribbean Reef Corals. Journal of Paleontology **68**:951-977.
- Bush, M.B. 1995. Neotropical plant reproductive strategies and fossil pollen representation. American Naturalist **145**:594-609.
- Cameron, A.M. and R. Endean. 1985. Do long-lived species structure coral reef ecosystems? Proceedings of the 5th International Coral Reef Symposium **6**:211-215.
- Clarke, K. R., and R. M. Warwick. 1994. Change in marine communities: an approach to statistical analysis and interpretation. National Environment Research Council. UK. 144 pp.
- Dana, J. D. 1848. Zoophytes. United States Exploring Expedition 1838-1842, Philadelphia, 7:121-708, 721-740.
- Duchassaing, P., and J. Michelotti. 1860. Mémoire sur les coralliaires des Antilles. Memorie della Reale Accademia delle Scienze di Torino. Serie Seconda **19**:56-87.
- Ehrenberg, G. G. 1834. Beiträge zur physiologischen Kenntniss der Corallenthiere im allgemeinen und besonders des Rothen Meeres. Kaiserliche Akademie der Wissenschaften Berlin, Abhandlungen **1832**:250-380.
- Ellis, J., and D. Solander. 1786. The natural history of many curious and uncommon zoophytes. London, 208 p.
- Esper, J. C. 1797. Fortsetzungen der Pflanzenthiere. Nürnberg 1:169-230.
- Fenner, D.P. 1988. Some leeward reefs and corals of Cozumel, Mexico. Bulletin of Marine Science **42**:133-144.
- Geister, J. 1977. Occurrence of Pocillopora in late Pleistocene Caribbean coral reefs. Mémoires du Bureau de Recherches Géologiques et Minières **89**:378-388.
- Goreau, T. F. 1959. The ecology of Jamaican coral reefs. I. Species composition and zonation. Ecology **40**:67-90.
- Goreau, T.F., and J.W. Wells. 1967. The shallow-water Scleractinia of Jamaica: revised list of species and their vertical distribution range. Bulletin of Marine Science **17**:442-453.

- Greenstein, B.J., and J.M. Pandolfi. 1997. Preservation of community structure in modern reef coral life and death assemblages of the Florida Keys: Implications for the Quaternary fossil record of coral reefs: Bulletin of Marine Science **61**: 431-452.
- Greenstein, B.J., J.M. Pandolfi, and A. Curran. 1998a. The completeness of the Pleistocene fossil record: implications for stratigraphic adequacy: in Donovan, S.K. and C.R.C. Paul (eds.), The Adequacy of the Fossil Record, John Wiley and Sons, London, pp. 75-109.
- Greenstein, B.J., A. Curran, and J.M. Pandolfi. 1998b. Shifting ecological baselines and the demise of *Acropora cervicornis* in the western North Atlantic and Caribbean Province: A Pleistocene perspective. Coral Reefs 17: 249-261.
- Gregory, J. W. 1900. The corals. Jurassic fauna of Cutch. Palaeontologica Indica, Series 9, 2:1-195.
- Guzmán, H.M., J.B.C. Jackson, and E. Weil. 1991. Short-term ecological consequences of a major oil spill on Panamanian subtidal reef corals. Coral Reefs **10**:1-12.
- Jackson, J.B.C. 1991. Adaptation and diversity of reef corals. Bioscience 41:475-482.
- Jackson, J.B.C. 1992. Pleistocene perspectives on coral reef community structure. American Zoologist **32**:719-731.
- Johnson, R.G. 1960. Models and methods for analysis of the mode of formation of fossil assemblages. Geological Society of America Bulletin **71**:1075-1086.
- Knowlton, N., J.L. Mate, H.M. Guzman, R. Rowan, and J. Jara. 1997. Direct evidence for reproductive isolation among the three species on the *Montastraea annularis* complex in Central America (Panama and Honduras). Marine Biology 127: 705-711.
- Knowlton, N., E. Weil, L.A. Weight, and H.M. Guzmán. 1992. Sibling species in <u>Montastraea annularis</u>, coral bleaching and the coral climate record. Science **255**:330-333.
- Lamarck, J. B. P. 1816. Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertèbres. Paris.vol. 2, 568 pp.
- Lesueur, C. A. 1821. Déscription de plusieurs animaux appartenant aux polypiers lamellifères de M. le Chev. de Lamarck. Mémoires du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle, **6**:271-298.
- Linnaeus, C. 1758. Systema Naturae per regnia tria naturae, secundum Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species. Tomus I. Regnum Animale. Holmiae, Editio Decima, Reformata, 824 pp.
- Linnaeus, C. 1767. Madrepora. Systema Naturae. Holmiae, Editio Duodecima, Reformata, pt. 2, t. 1:1272-1282.
- Lopez J.V., and N. Knowlton 1997. Discrimination of species in the *Montastraea annularis* complex using multiple genetic loci. Proceedings of the 8th International Coral Reef Symposium **II**:1613-1618.
- Lyman, T. 1859. On a new species of coral (*Astraea decactis*). Proceedings of the Boston Society of Natural History **6**:260-263.
- Mesolella, K.J. 1967. Zonation of uplifted Pleistocene coral reefs on Barbados, West Indies. Science **156**:638-640.

Milne-Edwards, H., and J. Haime. 1849. Mémoire sur les polypiers appartenant à la famille des Oculinides, au groupe intermédiaire des Pseudastréides et à la famille des Fongides (extrait). Academie de la Science, Paris, C.R., **29**:67-73.

Müller, P. L. S. 1775. Von den Corallen. In Ritters C. von Linné vollständiges Natursystem nach der zwölften lateinsichen Ausgabe und nach Anleitung des holländischen Erklärung ausgefertiget von P. L. S. Müller. Nürnberg, vol. **6**, 960 pp.

Pallas, P. S. 1766. Elenchus Zoophytorum. Hagae-Comitum. 451 pp.

Palmer, R. H. 1928. Fossil and Recent corals and coral reefs of western Mexico. American Philosophical Society Proceedings **68**:21-31.

Pandolfi, J.M. 1999. Response of Pleistocene coral reefs to environmental change over long temporal scales: American Zoologist **39**:113-130.

Pandolfi, J.M., and B.J. Greenstein. 1997. Preservation of community structure in death assemblages of deep water Caribbean reef corals. Limnology and Oceanography **42**: 1505-1516.

Pandolfi, J.M., J.B.C. Jackson and J. Geister. in press b. Geologically sudden extinction of two widespread Late Pleistocene Caribbean reef corals. *in* Jackson J.B.C., S. Lidgard, and F.K. McKinney (eds.), Process from Pattern in the Fossil Record, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Terasmae, J. 1973. Notes on late Wisconsin and early Holocene history of vegetation in Canada. Arctic and Alpine Research 5:210-222.

Van Veghel, M.L.J. 1994. Polymorphism in the Caribbean reef building coral *Montastrea annularis*. unpub PhD dissertation, 128 pp.

Verrill, A. E.1902. Variations and nomenclature of Bermudian, West Indian, and Brazilian reef corals, with notes on various Indo-Pacific corals. Connecticut Academy of Arts and Science, Transactions, **11**:63-169.

Appendix. List of reef coral (Scleractinia) species from the 125 ka Hato Unit, Lower Terrace, Curação.

Acropora cervicornis (Lamarck 1816)

Acropora palmata (Lamarck 1816)

Agaricia agaricites (Linneaus 1758)

Agaricia crassa (Verrill 1902)

Agaricia pusilla (Verrill 1902)

Colpophyllia amaranthus (Müller 1775)

Colpophyllia breviserialis (Milne Edwards and Haine 1849)

Colpophyllia natans (Müller 1775)

Ecological Archives M071-002-A1
Dendrogyra cylindricus (Ehrenberg 1834)
Diploria clivosa (Ellis and Solander 1786)
Diploria labyrinthiformis (Linneaus 1758)
Diploria strigosa (Dana 1848)
Eusmilia fastigiata (Pallas 1766)
Favia fragum (Esper 1797)
Isophyllastrea rigida (Dana 1848)
Isophyllia sinuosa (Ellis and Solander 1786)
Madracis mirabilis (Duchassaing and Michelotti 1860)
Madracis decactis (Lyman 1859)
Manicina areolata (Linneaus 1758)
Meandrina meandrites (Linneaus 1767)
Millepora complanata (Linneaus)
Montastraea "cavernosa" sp. 1 (Linneaus 1767 - morph 1 of Budd et al 1994)
Montastraea "cavernosa" sp. 2 (Linneaus 1767 - morph 2 of Budd et al 1994)
Montastraea "cavernosa" sp. 3 (Linneaus 1767 - morph 3 of Budd et al 1994)
Montastraea "cavernosa" sp. 4 (new species)
Montastraea annularis (sensu stricto) (Ellis and Solander 1786)
Montastraea faveolata (Ellis and Solander 1786)
Montastraea franksi (Gregory 1900)
organ-pipe Montastraea (new species)
sheet Montastraea (Ellis and Solander 1786)
Pocillopora cf. palmata (Palmer 1928)
Porites astreoides (Lamarck 1816)
Porites divaricata (Lesueur 1821)
Porites furcata (Lamarck 1816)
Porites porites (Pallas 1766)

Siderastrea radians (Pallas 1766)

Siderastrea siderea (Ellis and Solander 1786)

Solenastrea bourini (Milne Edwards and Haine 1849)

Stephanocoenia intersepta (Lamarck 1816)

[Back to M071-002]

John M. Pandolfi and Jeremy B. C. Jackson. 2001. Community structure of Pleistocene coral reefs of Curação, Netherlands Antilles. *Ecological Monographs* 71:49-67.

Appendices

Appendix A: Additional information for the study of Pleistocene coral communities from Curação. *Ecological Archives* M071-002-A1.

Copyright

ESA Publications | Ecological Archives | Permissions | Citation | Contacts